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INTRODUCTION

Congtess routinely authorizes federal agencies to issue subpoenas to investigate
potential violations of federal law. An agency granted such power “may take steps to
inform itself as to whether there is probable violation of the law,” and in exercising its
investigatory powers, the agency is “analogous to the Grand Jury, which does not
depend on a case or controversy for power to get evidence but can investigate merely
on suspicion that the law is being violated, or even just because it wants assurance that
it is not.” United States v. Morton Salt Co., 338 U.S. 632, 642-43 (1950). Judicial review
of such subpoenas is correspondingly “quite narrow,” asking only whether authority
to investigate has been granted, whether the applicable procedural requirements have
been followed, and whether the evidence soughtis relevant to the investigation. United
States v. Golden Valley Elec. Ass'n, 689 F.3d 1108, 1113 (9th Cir. 2012).

The Department of Justice has been clear and transparent that it has made it a
priority to investigate potential violations of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic
Act and other federal health care offenses in connection with the provision of so-
called “gender affirming care” to minors. The Department has substantial basis to
suspect that various actors involved in this industry (ranging from drug companies to
clinics to insurance companies) have engaged in federal criminal activity, including
misbranding drugs for off-label uses and filing deceptive insurance claims. Those
serious concerns warrant factual investigation. It is the proper role and responsibility

of the Department of Justice to conduct that investigation.
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As part of that investigation, the Department of Justice issued a subpoena to
QueerDoc, PLLC, a telemedicine clinic that specializes in treating children and
adolescents who are diagnosed with gender dysphoria, and which the Department
suspects has been engaged in potential federal misconduct. This is the type of
subpoena that the Department issues all the time in the health care space—seeking
records so it can duly investigate potential federal offenses. Enforcing this subpoena
should have been mundane and routine, but instead the district court quashed the
subpoena on its face, denouncing the entire investigation as bad faith and pretextual,
and effectively shielded the entire industry from federal due diligence.

The district court’s opinion is indefensible, and its order should be reversed.
The court did not dispute that the subpoena satisfies the usual factors for assessing
whether a subpoenais lawful, including that the Department has statutory authority to
issue the subpoena and the information sought would be relevant to the investigation.
It instead quashed the subpoena based onits sweeping conclusion that the subpoena
was issued for an “improper purpose.” But there was simply no basis for the court to
reach that conclusion; each of its reasons is fundamentally flawed.

The district court principally inferred an improper purpose from the fact that
the President and other officials in his administration have expressed opposition to
the administration of puberty blockers and cross-sex hormones to minors with gender
dysphoria. The court believed that the subpoena was therefore necessarily an effort to

“end” certain practices under the guise of “merely investigating” them. ER-017. But
2
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that simply does not follow. To be sure, the President has serious moral and policy
objections to the practice of subjecting minors to these interventions with “sometimes
irreversible” consequences, United States v. Skmuetts, 605 U.S. 495, 503 (2025); 7d. at
534-35 (Thomas, J., concurring), but the current investigations seek only to enforce
existing federal statutes against the industry. That is plainly permissible. Just as an
administration skeptical of cryptocurrency could prioritize investigations into money-
laundering by crypto actors, or an administration opposed to sports gambling could
choose to prioritize investigations into whether gambling operations are complying
with all regulatory requirements, an administration that is dubious of making
permanent changes to children’s bodies in the guise of “medical care” is entitled to
prioritize investigations into whether industry actors engaged in that activity are
violating federal law. That does not amount to bad faith or pretext. To hold otherwise
would immunize any industry or practice that an administration opposes as a policy
matter, even if criminal activity is underway. That sweeping logic is unprecedented
and unsustainable.

The district courtalso inferred improper purpose from a supposed “mismatch”
between the subject of the investigation (namely, misbranding and false claims) and
QueerDoc’s role in the industry (namely, prescribing drugs). ER-017. That reflects a
basic misapprehension of how federal health care offenses are investigated. Even
setting aside concerns specific to QueerDoc, patient records and communications

between prescribers and drug companies or insurers are a core part of any such

3
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investigation, regardless of whether the prescriber is suspected of independent
wrongdoing. An investigation cannot be artificially cabined to a single actor in a
complex supply chain or industry.

Finally, the court thought that certain subpoena requests were overbroad, and
again inferred an illicit purpose. They were not overbroad; it is typical practice for
investigators to seek a broad set of records and materials. But if the court had
concerns about the breadth of the subpoena, then it should have considered whether
to narrow it—not quashed it entirely on grounds that would appear to foreclose the
Department from issuing azy subpoena.

The safety and propriety of gender-related interventions for minors is a topic of
“fierce scientific and policy debates,” one that the President and his administration
have not hesitated to address. Skmwerti, 605 U.S. at 525. But that political backdrop
does not excuse participants in this industry from complying with the same federal
health care laws as everyone else. And it certainly should not shield them from
ordinary criminal investigations or duly authorized subpoenas. This Court should

reverse the order below.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court granted QueerDoc’s motion to quash on October 27, 2025.
The government filed a timely notice of appeal on November 21, 2025. See Fed. R.
App. P. 4(a)(1)(B) (60-day time limit). This Court has appellate jurisdiction under 28

U.S.C. § 1291.
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE
Whether the district court erred in quashing a subpoena to QueerDoc expressly
authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 3486 on the basis that the Department of Justice ostensibly
issued the subpoena for an “improper purpose.”
PERTINENT STATUTES
Pertinent statutes are reproduced in the addendum to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.  Statutory Background
1. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act

In 1938, Congress passed, and President Franklin D. Roosevelt sighed into law,
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”). The FDCA’s “overriding
purpose [is] to protect the public health.” Unzted States v. Article of Drug, 394 U.S. 784,
798 (1969). Because the FDCA’s purpose should “infuse construction of the” FDCA,
United States v. Dottenweich, 320 U.S. 277, 280 (1943), courts give the FDCA a “liberal
construction” that furthers protection of the public health, including criminal
enforcement, Article of Drug, 394 U.S. at 798; see also United States v. Park, 421 U.S. 658,
672 (1975) (explaining that the FDCA imposes a “positive duty to seek out and
remedy violations when they occur”).

The FDCA regulates the development, manufacturing, and distribution of
drugs in the United States. Before any “new drug” may enter interstate commerce, the

manufacturer must demonstrate to the United States Food and Drug Administration

5
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(“FDA?”) that the drug is both safe and effective for each of its intended uses. 21
U.S.C.§§ 331(d), 355(a). The introduction of an unapproved new drug into interstate
commerce violates the FDCA. 21 U.S.C. § 331(d).

A drug manufacturer obtains FDA approval for a new drug through a new
drugapplication (“NDA”) that demonstratesits drugis safe and effective for each of
its intended uses. 21 U.S.C. § 355(a). When FDA approves a drug, it approves it as
safe and effective for particular use(s) in the NDA. See 21 U.S.C. § 352(f); 21 C.F.R.
§ 201.5. In addition, for prescription drugs, FDA must also approve the drug’s
labeling, which specifies, among other things, FDA-approved uses and adequate
directions for those uses. 21 U.S.C. {§ 352(f)(1), 355; see 21 C.F.R. §§ 201.5, 201.55-
201.57, 201.100. Because adrug that is safe and effective for one use may be neither
safe nor effective for others, FDA approval extends only to the uses specitied in a
drug’s approved application and labeling. 21 U.S.C. § 355(d).

The FDCA generally prohibits “misbranding” a drug. See 21 U.S.C. § 352; 7d.
§ 331(a), (b), (c), (k). A drug may be misbranded if, /nter alia, its labeling is false or
misleading, zd. § 352(a), or if its labeling does not bear adequate directions for use, 7d.
§ 352(f)(1). Under the FDCA, druglabeling is broadly defined to include any “written,
printed, or graphic matter . . . accompanying’ the drug. 21 U.S.C. § 321(m). The term
“accompanying” includes materials that are separate from but related to the drug and
any material that supplements, explains, or is designed for use with the drug. See 21

US.C. § 321(m); 21 C.F.R. § 1.3(2); Kordel v. United States, 335 U.S. 345 (1948); United
6
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States v. Urbutiet, 335 U.S. 355 (1948); United States v. 47 Bottles, 320 F.2d 564, 569 (3d
Cir. 1963). Labeling can include promotional materials, advertisements, brochures,
flyers, instruction sheets, posters, and similar materials.

Given the FDCA’s protective purpose, misdemeanor violations of the FDCA
are punishable on a strict liability basis, without any proof of criminal intent. See 21
U.S.C.§ 331, § 333(a)(1); Park, 421 U.S. at 672-73; United States v. Wiesenfield Warehouse
Co., 376 U.S. 86, 91 (1964). Where a violator has an intent to defraud or mislead, an
FDCA violation may be punishable as a felony. 21 U.S.C. § 333(a)(2).

2. The Health Insurance Portability & Accountability Act of
1996 and HIPAA Subpoenas

In 1996, Congress passed, and President Clinton signed into law, the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). As relevant here, the statute
permits the Attorney General to issue a subpoena—often referred to as a “HIPAA
subpoena”— to investigate federal health care offenses. 18 U.S.C.

§ 3486(2)(1)(A)@)(D). A federal health care offense includes a “violation of, or a
criminal conspiracy to violate,” 21 U.S.C. § 331, “if the violation or conspiracy relates
to a health care benefit program.” 18 U.S.C. § 24(2)(2). And a “health care benefit
program” is “any public or private plan or contract, affecting commerce, under which
any medical benefit, item, or service is provided to any individual, and includes any
individual or entity who is providing a medical benefit, item, or service for which

payment may be made under the plan or contract.” Id. § 24(b). The Department of
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Justice is therefore expressly empowered to use a HIPAA subpoena to investigate
violations of the FDCA and related conspiracies, if the violation or conspiracy relates
to products or services that might ultimately be paid for by a private or public health
insurance program.

B.  Factual Background

1. Off-Label Provision of Puberty Blockers and Cross-Sex
Hormones to Treat Gender Dysphoria

This case involves a HIPAA subpoena that the Department of Justice issued in
connection with an investigation into the provision of certain prescription drugs to
minors with gender dysphoria. See ER-021. These include prescription drugs that
suppress the production of sex hormones to delay puberty (commonly referred to as
“puberty blockers”) and cross-sex hormones meant to induce physical changes to the
child’s secondary sexual characteristics to resemble those typically seenin the opposite
sex and less like the individual’s biological sex. See Skmetti, 605 U.S. at 503-04
(describing use of these drugs). Although these drugs are approved by FDA for some
uses, FDA has not determined that any of these drugs are safe or effective for the
treatment of gender dysphoria, nor has FDA approved any of these prescription
drugs for the treatment of gender dysphoria or any other psychiatric disorder.

The use of these drugs in the treatment of gender dysphoria in minors is highly
controversial—the subject of “fierce scientificand policy debates.” Skmzerti, 605 U.S.

at 525. As the Supreme Court recently explained, “health authorities in a number of










































































































































